THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE  
SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

T. Scott Beck, Commissioner

---

Case No. 2015-002505

---

**RECEIVED**

FEB 12 2016

SC Court of Appeals

John Faubert,.....Respondent.

v.

University of SC Apprentice Students, Employer, and State Accident Fund,  
Carrier.....Appellants.

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Peter P. Leventis, IV, Esq.  
McKay, Cauthen, Settana & Stublely, P.A.  
Post Office Box 7217  
Columbia, South Carolina 29202  
(803) 256-4645  
Attorney for Appellants

##

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. DID THE APPELLATE PANEL OF THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERR IN RULING THAT THE APPLICABLE STATUTE FOR DETERMINATION OF AVERAGE WEEKLY WAGE IN THIS MATTER WAS S.C. CODE ANN. §42-1-40?
  
- II. DID THE APPELLATE PANEL OF THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERR IN FAILING TO FIND S.C. CODE ANN. §42-7-65, AND *SMITH V. BARNWELL COUNTY*, 384 S.C. 520, 682 S.E.2D 828 (2009) WERE THE CONTROLLING AUTHORITY APPLICABLE TO THE DETERMINATION OF THE AVERAGE WEEKLY WAGE AND CORRESPONDING COMPENSATION RATE?
  
- III. DID THE APPELLATE PANEL OF THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERR IN FINDING THAT THE CLAIMANT/RESPONDENT WAS PERMITTED TO 'STACK' HIS WAGES FROM A SECOND JOB IN ORDER TO DETERMINE THE CALCULATION OF HIS AVERAGE WEEKLY WAGE?
  
- IV. DID THE APPELLATE PANEL OF THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERR IN FINDING THAT THE CLAIMANT/RESPONDENT WAS ENTITLED TO THE DIFFERENCE IN TEMPORARY TOTAL, OR TEMPORARY PARTIAL, DISABILITY BENEFITS FOR ANY TIME PERIOD OR PERIODS, BASED ON A HIGHER AVERAGE WEEKLY WAGE AND COMPENSATION THAN THAT EARNED BY MR. FAUBERT WHILE WORKING WITH THE DEFENDANT/RESPONDENT EMPLOYER?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter comes before the Court of Appeals from the appeal of an Order of the Appellate Panel of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission. The primary issue in dispute between the parties is whether the Respondent, John Faubert, is entitled to an increase in the calculation of his average weekly wage and compensation rate to include both, his statutorily determined wages as an apprentice through the University of South Carolina (the Defendant/Appellant/Employer), as well as the wages he earned from his job as a manager at McDonalds. The Defendants are represented by Peter P. Leventis, IV, Esquire of The McKay Firm (McKay, Cauthen, Settana, & Stublely, P.A.). The Claimant, John Faubert, is represented by Zandra Johnson of the law firm Zandra L. Johnson, LLC.

The Claimant suffered an admitted compensable work accident when he tripped and fell on or about January 29, 2014, causing bodily injury. At the time of the injury, he was in a work study program completing his course in a graduate program through a satellite campus of the University of South Carolina. Respondent Johan Faubert was also employed at McDonalds as a manager at this time. After the accident on January 29, 2014, the Claimant was unable to return to his work study/graduate program until March 24, 2014. However, as of the date of the trial hearing in this matter before the single Commissioner, on September 23, 2014, Mr. Faubert was still unable to return to his job as a manager at McDonalds.

Graduate students in work study programs, such as Mr. Faubert, are not actually paid wages for the work study projects in which they participate for the purpose of completing credit hours. Normally, they would not be considered employees for the purposes of workers' compensation benefits. However, by virtue of S:C. Code Ann. §42-7-65, these students have been provided specified and limited workers' compensation benefits by the legislature. "The

average weekly wage for students of [...] state-supported colleges and universities while engaged in [...] apprentice programs [...] is fifty percent of the average weekly wage in the State for the preceding fiscal year” See Generally S.C. Code Ann. §42-7-65.

One of the primary purposes for the original Form 50 hearing requested by the Claimant Faubert, was for a determination of his average weekly wage and compensation rate for this claim, and specifically requesting to include his additional earnings from McDonalds into this calculation. In an Order issued on March 20, 2015, Commissioner Aisha Taylor held that S.C. Code Ann. §42-1-40 controlled the calculation of the average weekly wage and compensation rate in this matter, and that the case of *Smith v. Barnwell County*, 384 S.C. 520, 682 S.E.2d 828 (2009) was not applicable to this claim. (See Taylor Order, Findings of Fact No’s. 1-2 at pp. 6-7).

Pursuant to that Order, Mr. Faubert was therefore entitled to include his earnings from McDonalds into his average weekly wage and compensation rate, in addition to the statutorily prescribed average weekly wage and compensation rate, for the purposes of calculating his weekly indemnity benefits or total and/or partial disability. The single Commissioner further ruled that Respondent Faubert was entitled to temporary partial disability benefits, after his return to the graduate studies and apprentice program on March 24, 2014 based on the difference in average weekly wage and compensation rate of the monies he was no longer earning at McDonalds. The amount of the temporary partial compensation was awarded at the rate of two thirds of the difference between his newly calculated average weekly wage (which included the McDonalds earnings), and the statutorily assigned wage from the legislature to qualifying apprentices under S.C. Code Ann. §42-7-65. (See Taylor Order at Finding of Fact No. 7, at pp. 7-8).

Within the applicable time period, Defendants/Appellants filed a Form 30 appeal to the full Commission citing four (4) grounds for exception and judicial review of the single Commissioner's Order issued March 20, 2015. The Appellate Panel of the Workers' Compensation Commission subsequently affirmed the single Commissioner Order as to the disputed issues over the calculation of the average weekly wage and compensation rate to include the McDonalds wages. That Order of the Appellate Panel was issued on November 3, 2015. This appeal by the Employer/Carrier to the Court of Appeals followed:

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act governs judicial review of decisions by the Workers' Compensation Commission. *Bass v. Isochem*, 365 S.C. 454, 467, 617 S.E.2d 369, 376 (Ct. App. 2005). An appellate court's review is limited to the determination of whether or not the decision of the Appellate Panel of the Workers' Compensation Commission was supported by substantial evidence or is controlled by some error of law. *Grant v. Grant Textiles*, 372 S.C. 196, 200, 641 S.E.2d 869, 871 (2007); S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380(A)(5) (Supp. 2006).

The judicial review of the Workers' Compensation Commission's appellate panel's factual findings is governed by the substantial evidence standard. *Gadson v. Mikasa Corp.*, 368 S.C. 214, 221, 628 S.E.2d 262, 266 (Ct. App. 2006). The appellate panel's decision must be affirmed if supported by substantial evidence in the record. *Shuler v. Gregory Elec.*, 366 S.C. 435, 440, 622 S.E.2d 569, 571 (Ct. App. 2005) (internal citations omitted). A reviewing court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the Commission as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380(A)(5) (Supp. 2006).

However, a reviewing court may reverse or modify a decision of the appellate panel if the findings of the panel are, "clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial

evidence on the whole record.” S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380(A)(5)(e) (Supp. 2006); (*Houston v. Deloach & Deloach*, 378 S.C. 543, 550; 663 S.E.2d 85, 88) (S.C. Ct. App. 2008)). See also *Grant v. Grant Textiles*, 361 S.C. 188, 191, 603 S.E.2d 858, 859 (Ct. App. 2004) (noting that a reviewing court will not overturn a decision by the Workers’ Compensation Commission unless the determination is unsupported by substantial evidence or is affected by an error of law) (reversed on other grounds (*Grant v. Grant Textiles*, 372 S.C. 196, 200, 641 S.E.2d 869, 871 (2007))).

### ARGUMENT

- I. **DID THE APPELLATE PANEL OF THE WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERR IN RULING THAT THE APPLICABLE STATUTE FOR DETERMINATION OF AVERAGE WEEKLY WAGE IN THIS MATTER WAS S.C. CODE ANN. §42-1-40?**
  
- II. **DID THE APPELLATE PANEL OF THE WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERR IN FAILING TO FIND S.C. CODE ANN. §42-7-65, AND *SMITH V. BARNWELL COUNTY*, 384 S.C. 520, 682 S.E.2D 828 (2009) WERE THE CONTROLLING AUTHORITY APPLICABLE TO THE DETERMINATION OF THE AVERAGE WEEKLY WAGE AND CORRESPONDING COMPENSATION RATE?**

Defendants contend that as to the question of stacking additional wages in this matter from a second job, onto the wages statutorily provided for by the legislature under S.C. Code Ann. §42-7-65 is a clear cut issue, and is not permitted. This question has already been expressly decided in South Carolina, through binding legal precedent of the Supreme Court in the case of *Smith v. Barnwell County*, 384 S.C. 520, 682 S.E.2d 828 (2009). Therefore, the case of *Smith* is worth quoting at length. Claimant Smith, was an inmate, who was entitled to workers’ compensation benefits, and an assignment of a statutorily prescribed average weekly wage for his workers’ compensation claims in the amount of \$40.00 per week, through the introduction of

S.C. Code Ann. §42-7-65. “Average weekly wage designated for certain categories of employees.”

In that case, Claimant Smith sought to increase the statutorily derived \$40.00 average weekly wage through the inclusion of additional wages. Smith worked at another job during the week days, but had fallen and hurt his back while on a work assignment during his time serving out a sentence, on the weekends, for a prior conviction. In reversing the lower court’s ruling, which had provided Smith was permitted to combine his wages, the Supreme Court made the following determinations and interpretation of the differences between S.C. Code Ann. §42-7-65 and §42-1-40:

S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-40 provides the method for calculating the average weekly wage, but allows for deviation from the method “for exceptional reasons. . . .” S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-40 (2005). This Court has held that concurrent employment is one such exceptional reason. See *Foreman v. Jackson Minit Markets, Inc.*, 265 S.C. 164, 217 S.E.2d 214 (1975).

Barnwell County argues on appeal that Smith was not an “employee” of Barnwell County and therefore, since Smith was not working for two or more employers when the injury occurred, Smith may not recover compensation for concurrent employment. We need not reach this issue because we agree with the County that, even assuming Smith is an “employee” for workers’ compensation purposes, he may not combine wages under § 42-1-40.

Originally, the average weekly wage for prisoners was addressed in § 42-1-40, which contained the “exceptional reasons” provision. In 1983, after this Court’s decision in *Foreman*, the General Assembly removed the inmate section from § 42-1-40 and included it in the newly-created §42-7-65, which contains no “exceptional reasons” provision. Section [§]42-7-65 is entitled “Average weekly wage designated for certain categories of employees” and provides in part, “[t]he average weekly wage for county and municipal prisoners is forty dollars a week.”

By removing inmates from §42-1-40, designating a specific weekly wage for inmates, and not providing an “exceptional reasons” provision in §42-7-65, we find that the General Assembly intended that inmates not be allowed to combine wages in determining their average weekly wage. If the General Assembly had not intended such a result, there would have been no reason to remove inmates from §42-1-40.

Given the above, we find that the General Assembly intended to deny inmates the ability to combine wages in determining their average weekly wage.

*Smith v. Barnwell at Id.* (internal citations omitted).

In addition to the evaluation of these two different average weekly wages statutes by the *Smith* Court, Defendants/Appellants would further assert that the language of §42-7-65 indicates in the preamble to the listing of wages – in the very first sentence – that “the total average weekly wage of the following categories of employees is the following:” (emphasis supplied).

In the single Commissioner’s ruling on this issue, as affirmed without modification by the Commission’s Appellate Panel, the Claimant Faubert was permitted to stack his wages, The Orders of the Commission delineated different sections of §42-7-65 for which the trial Commissioner and Appellate Panel held that stacking of wages may, or may not, be applicable for exceptional reasons.

Both the single Commissioner’s Order, as fully affirmed by the Appellate Panel, went on to hold that while *Smith* was applicable to inmates, it was therefore inapplicable students in apprentice programs for the purposes of construing the ability to combine wages. (See Taylor Oder at Findings of Fact No’s 1-2, at pp. 6-7). In response, these Defendants would simply assert that there is no support for this finding or the delineation of the different subsections of such employees – for purposes of attempting to distinguish the *Smith* claim and the instant case. Most importantly on this point - inmates and school apprentice/work programs fall under the exact same paragraph and subsection of §42-7-65. Therefore, the analysis in *Smith* falls foursquare on the facts of this case. Moreover, the Commission’s determination of a differentiation in the calculation of average weekly wage for apprentices in work study programs and inmates – or any other category enumerated in this section of §42-7-65 – is inapplicable and

misplaced. Inmates and student apprentices in work study programs are *literally* right next to each other in the statute, one sentence after the other, in the exact same paragraph.

The average weekly wage for inmates of the State Department of Corrections as defined in Section 42-1-480 is forty dollars a week. However, the average weekly wage for an inmate who works in a federally approved Prison Industries Enhancement Certification Program must be based upon the inmate's actual net earnings after any statutory reductions. **The average weekly wage for county and municipal prisoners is forty dollars a week. The average weekly wage for students of high schools, state technical schools, and state-supported colleges and universities while engaged** in work study, marketing education, or **apprentice programs** on the premises of private companies or while engaged in the Tech Prep or other structured school-to-work programs on the premises of a sponsoring employer is fifty percent of the average weekly wage in the State for the preceding fiscal year.

S.C. Code Ann. §42-7-65 (emphasis supplied)

The single Commissioner, affirmed by the Appellate Panel, further held that §42-1-40 and the reasoning of the Court in *Steele v. Self Serve, Inc.*, 335 S.C. 323, 516 S.E.2d 674 (Ct. App. 1999) are controlling, as opposed to §42-7-65 and *Smith, supra*. (See Taylor Order Finding of Fact No. 2, at p. 7). Further still §42-7-65 must be controlling and compelling in this matter. But for the dictates of §42-7-65 providing certain workers' compensation benefits to the Claimant by virtue of his status in a study apprenticeship, while earning graduate college credit hours, he would not even be entitled to workers' compensation benefits in the first instance.

III. DID THE APPELLATE PANEL OF THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERR IN FINDING THAT THE CLAIMANT/RESPONDENT WAS PERMITTED TO 'STACK' HIS WAGES FROM A SECOND JOB IN ORDER TO DETERMINE THE CALCULATION OF HIS AVERAGE WEEKLY WAGE?

IV. DID THE APPELLATE PANEL OF THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERR IN FINDING THAT THE CLAIMANT/RESPONDENT WAS ENTITLED TO THE DIFFERENCE IN TEMPORARY TOTAL, OR TEMPORARY PARTIAL, DISABILITY BENEFITS FOR ANY TIME PERIOD OR PERIODS, BASED ON A HIGHER AVERAGE WEEKLY WAGE AND COMPENSATION THAN THAT EARNED BY MR. FAUBERT WHILE WORKING WITH THE DEFENDANT/RESPONDENT EMPLOYER?