THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

JUN 08 2016

**SC Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM  
THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

T. Scott Beck, Commissioner

Case No. 2015-002505

John Faubert, Employee.....Respondent,

v.

University of SC Apprentice Students, Employer, and State Accident Fund,  
Carrier..... Appellants.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT



Zandra L. Johnson  
The Law Firm of Zandra L. Johnson, LLC  
S.C. Bar No.: 72014  
330 East Coffee Street  
Greenville, SC 29601  
Phone: (864) 527-5915  
Fax: (864) 551-2913  
Email: zandra@zfirmssc.com  
*Attorney for Respondent*

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

WHETHER THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION PROPERLY CALCULATED CLAIMANT'S AVERAGE WEEKLY WAGE, PURSUANT TO SOUTH CAROLINA CODE SECTION 42-1-40, TO INCLUDE CONSIDERATION BOTH HIS STATUTORILY ASSIGNED WEEKLY WAGE AS AN INTERN ENGAGED IN A WORK STUDY PROGRAM AND HIS EARNINGS FROM HIS CONCURRENT EMPLOYMENT WITH MCDONALD'S.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an Order of the Appellate Panel of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission. By Order issued November 3, 2015, the Appellate Panel affirmed, in all respects and without modification, the Order of the single Commissioner. (R. p. 7). In her Order issued March 20, 2015, the single Commissioner concluded, in part, that the calculation of the Respondent John Faubert's average weekly wage and corresponding compensation rate were controlled by S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-40 and thus required combining the statutorily assigned average weekly wage for students engaged in work study programs and Respondent's wages from his concurrent employment as an Assistant Manager for McDonalds. (R. pp. 15-16).

Respondent, John Faubert, suffered a compensable injury January 29, 2014 while participating in activities in connection with a work study program in pursuit of his master's degree at the University of South Carolina. (R. p. 311). At the time of this injury, the Respondent was also employed by McDonald's as an Assistant Manager. (R. pp. 303-304).

Respondent served his Form 50 Notice of Claim March 24, 2014, seeking temporary total benefits beginning January 29, 2014 through the present and continuing as well as medical examination and treatment for the body parts injured. By a Form 50 dated April 14, 2015, Respondent requested a hearing seeking a determination on both of these issues. (R. p. 311). A hearing was held on these issues before Commissioner Aisha Taylor on September 23, 2014. It is this hearing which resulted in original finding and conclusion that Mr. Faubert was entitled to include both his statutorily assigned average weekly wage for his position as a work study student and his wages from McDonald's in determining

his average weekly wage and compensation rate. (R. p. 7) (R. p. 15). Appellants served a Form 30 on April 2, 2015, appealing the Order of the single Commissioner and a Notice of Appeal on December 3, 2015, appealing the Order of the Appellate Panel. (R. pp. 38-41).

### ARGUMENT

**SOUTH CAROLINA CODE SECTION 42-1-40 DICTATES THAT CLAIMANT'S WAGES FROM HIS REGULAR EMPLOYMENT WITH MCDONALD'S ARE TO BE COMBINED WITH THE STATUTORILY DESIGNATED AVERAGE WEEKLY WAGE OF A STUDENT INTERN WHEN DETERMINING HIS TOTAL AVERAGE WEEKLY WAGE AND CORRESPONDING COMPENSATION RATE.**

It is undisputed that at the time of his injury, Respondent was engaged as an intern in a work study program with Appellant Employer, University of South Carolina, and was also working as an Assistant Manager for McDonald's. It is also undisputed that for his engagement as an intern engaged in a work study program, his average weekly wage is "fifty percent of the average weekly wage in the State for the preceding fiscal year." S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-65. Respondent's engagement in a work study program is consequently considered employment within the meaning of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act, such that it was properly determined that he was working two jobs at the time of his injury.

It is well-established that when an employee is working more than one job at a time, that employee's average weekly wage is calculated by combining the wages from each of his multiple jobs. *Boles v. Una Water Dist.*, 291 S.C. 282, 353 S.E.2d 286 (1987); *Foreman v. Jackson Minit Markets, Inc.*, 265 S.C. 164, 217 S.E.2d 214 (1975) (holding that concurrent employment is an exceptional reason for deviation from the general method for calculating the average weekly wage in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-40 and

further finding that a proper calculation requires combination of the wages from a claimant's multiple jobs). In calculating Respondent's average weekly wage and corresponding compensation rate, the Appellate Panel properly combined the statutorily assigned average weekly wage for student interns in work study programs and Respondent's average weekly wage for his employment as a manager with McDonald's. (R. pp. 14-15).

Appellants, relying on *Smith v. Barnwell County*, 384 S.C. 520, 682 S.E.2d 828 (2009), unconvincingly contend that S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-65 prohibits the Respondent from including his wages earned from McDonalds in the calculation of his average weekly wage. In doing so, however, Appellants ignore the plain language of the very statute sought to be interpreted in *Smith v. Barnwell County*. Appellants' contention requires that one's consideration be limited to an isolated portion of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-65, which portion is reproduced in Appellants' brief. A careful review and reading of the **entire** applicable statute, however, instructs or points out the fallacy in Appellants' position.

Section 42-7-65 begins "[n]otwithstanding the provisions of Section 42-1-40, or the purpose of this title and while serving in this capacity, the total average weekly wage of the following categories of employees is the following...." Immediately thereafter appears five (5) indented and enumerated subparagraphs identifying certain categories of employees, neither of which includes student interns. After the five (5) indented and enumerated subparagraphs, the statute provides, without any indention, expressly as follows: "The wages provided in items (2), (3), (4) and (5) of this section may not be increased as a basis for any computation of benefits because of employment other than as a volunteer. Persons in the categories provided by items (2), (3), (3), and (5) must be

notified of the limitation on average weekly wages prescribed in this section by the authority responsible for obtaining coverage under this title.” *Id.*

After a few blank lines, the statute defines “volunteer firemen”, “rescue squad members” and “volunteer deputy sheriff[s]” in a un-indented paragraph of several lines. Thereafter are a few blank lines and finally, the last paragraph of the statute which addresses student interns. It is then and only then, in this un-indented paragraph of several lines that the legislature assigns an average weekly wage for “students of high schools, state technical schools, and state-supported colleges and universities while engaged in work study, marketing education, or apprentice programs on the premises of private companies or while engaged in the Tech Prep or other structured school-to-work programs on the premises of a sponsoring employer [to be] fifty percent of the average weekly wage in the State for the preceding fiscal year.” *Id.*

Consideration of the statute’s own formatting and the placement of modifying language used in Section 42-7-65 evidence the clear intent of the legislature. In “modifying” or “designating” the average weekly wage for certain categories of employees, the legislature referred to “the total average weekly wage” when addressing those employees enumerated and identified in subparagraphs (1), (2), (3), (4) and (5). S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-65. Additionally, the legislature intentionally informed—as to specific categories of employees identified by number—that their total average weekly wage “may not be increased as a basis for any computation of benefits because of employment other than as a volunteer.” *Id.*

A careful reading of the statute informs the reader that no such limitations have been placed on those categories of employees referenced in the final paragraph. First, the

legislature elects to refer to the wage as the “average weekly wage” rather than the “total average weekly wage” as it did for those employees identified in the enumerated subparagraphs. Additionally and even more telling is the legislature’s election to not include the language it used for those employees included in the enumerated subparagraphs. As indicated, the legislature specifically identified those employees and expressly indicated that their total average weekly wage was not to be increased on account of other employment. There was no such effort taken on the part of the legislature for those employees appearing in the final paragraph—a clear indication that no such limitation was being imposed. It appears that it was the intent of the legislature to provide workers’ compensation coverage where none previously existed to the benefit of those employees—not to limit it to those persons.

Appellants’ reliance on *Smith v. Barnwell*, *supra*, is sorely misplaced. In that case, the Supreme Court, reversing the circuit court and thereby affirming the single Commissioner, held that an inmate could not combine wages to determine his average weekly wage. *Id.* In arriving at that conclusion, the court resorted to a review of the legislative history and noted that the average weekly wage of prisoners was originally addressed in S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-40, which contained the “exceptional reasons” provision. *Id.* at 523-524, 830. The Court interpreted the legislature’s removal of “prisoners” from S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-40 and placement of them in S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-40 to limit their total average weekly wage to \$40 per week. The Court, however, did not give any consideration to the fact that the prisoners were moved to a statutory section where the legislature dealt with other specific categories of employees. It is to be logically

assumed that removal of prisoners from Section 42-1-40 and inclusion of them in Section 42-7-65 was nothing more than housekeeping and organizational.

Simply put, the portion of Section 42-7-65 addressing student interns does not prohibit the increasing of a student intern's average weekly wage by combining wages from the student intern's regular employment as it does for other identified categories of employees. As such, S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-40, *Foreman, supra*, and *Boles, supra*, are applicable and dictate that the Order of the Appellate Panel be affirmed in all respects, allowing the combination of the Claimant's wages from his regular employment with that provided him on account of his student intern status.